IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALBERTSON'S INC., BIG B, INC., HARCO DRUG, INC., ECKERD CORPORATION, KASH N' KARRY, K-MART CORPORATION, PIC N' SAVE DRUG CO., INC., PUBLIX, RITE AID CORPORATION, WALGREEN CO., WALMART STORES, INC., WINN DIXIE,

Petitioners,

v.

FILED SID J. WHITE NOV 28 1995 CLERK SUPPEND COURT

> CASE NO. 86,247 (DCA No. 94-1592)

THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, AGENCY FOR HEALTH CARE ADMINISTRATION, THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, BOARD OF PHARMACY, AND THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE,

Respondents.

Discretionary Proceeding to Review a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners Albertson's, Inc., Big B, Inc., Harco Drug, Inc., Eckerd Corporation, Kash n' Karry, K-Mart Corporation, Pic n' Save Drug Co., Inc., Publix, Rite Aid Corporation, Walgreen Co., Walmart Stores, Inc., and Winn Dixie will be referred to as "petitioners." Where one petitioner is referred to individually, an abbreviated form of the petitioner's name will be used: e.g., petitioner Eckerd Corporation will be referred to as "Eckerd."

Respondent The Florida Department of Professional Regulation, Agency for Health Care Administration, will be generally referred to as "respondent" or "the State," except where the reference is made to a particular statutory obligation of that agency. In the latter case, respondent will be referred to as "AHCA." The Florida Health Care and Insurance Reform Act of 1993, Chap. 93-129, Laws of Florida (Florida Statutes, Sections 408.70-408.706), will be referred to as "the Act."

The basis form of record citations will be "[R. ___, p. ___.]" The number following "R." will represent the volume assigned by the clerk of court in the index to the record on appeal. The number following "p." will be the page number(s) of or within the item to which the citation is made.

The statutory provision at issue, Section 408.706(10), Florida Statutes, is included in the appendix to Petitioners' Initial Brief On The Merits at tab "1." The trial court's Final Summary Judgement and the decision of the First District Court of

s#9727.3

iv

Appeal are included in the appendix at tabs "2" and "3," respectively.

Where petitioners have referred to the "Supreme Court" in their brief, the references will be to the United States Supreme Court. References to the Florida Supreme Court will be so designated in the brief.

Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis in quoted material is added.

s#9727.3

STATEMENT OF FACTS

<u>Introduction</u>

Petitioners have challenged the constitutionality of a single provision of the Florida Health Care and Insurance Reform Act of 1993 (the "Act") under the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution. (R. I, pp. 1-12). The provision, Section 408.706(10), Florida Statutes, created a specific market for prescribed medicines but then limited access to that market to certain Florida based pharmacy companies defined as "independent pharmacies." All out-of-state pharmacy companies were excluded from this market by this statutory definition. In particular, the definition of an "independent pharmacy" barred from the market (1) all pharmacies licensed under another state's laws and (2) all pharmacies with more than 12 Florida stores.

The trial court struck the first bar to competition by outof-state companies as violative of the Commerce Clause and severed it from Section 408.706(10). (R. II, pp. 219-20). The trial court refused, however, to invalidate the second bar to competition by pharmacies with more than 12 stores in Florida, (R. II, pp. 209-216), and the district court affirmed that ruling, over the strong dissent of Judge Miner. <u>Albertson's</u>. <u>Inc., et al. v. The Florida Dept. of Professional Regulation</u>, 658 So. 2d 134, 140-44 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). As he correctly pointed out in dissent, that statutory provision creates a patently unconstitutional burden on interstate commerce because it excludes virtually all of the out-of-state pharmacy companies

S#9727.3

from the market created by Section 408.706(10), while excluding only three of the 45 Florida companies. (R. I, pp. 92-96).

This disproportionate restraint on interstate commerce is precluded by the Commerce Clause, as is made clear by decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court. The decision of the district court conflicts with those controlling precedents and should accordingly be reversed.

A. Statement of the Undisputed Facts.

Under the Act, state-chartered, non-profit community health purchasing alliances ("CHPAs") are established in eleven geographic districts to pool resources for purchasing health care services and to gather health care information on behalf of CHPA members. § 408.702(1), Fla. Stat. (1993). Initial CHPA constituents include small business employers, as well as the State of Florida for purposes of providing health benefits to state employees and Medicaid recipients. § 408.701(4), Fla. Stat. (1993).

In each of these districts, the AHCA licenses and designates Accountable Health Partnerships (AHPs) which provide the required health care services to CHPA members through contracts with health care providers. § 408.706, Fla. Stat. (1993). Under the Act, health care providers include pharmacies like petitioners. Id.

In passing the Act, the Florida legislature intended to promote increased access to low cost health care services for State and small business employees, and Medicaid recipients

s#9727.3

through the creation of a "structured health care competition model." The promotion of competition in the various health care markets, including the prescribed medicine market, was central to this model. In fact, the stated purpose of the Act was to obtain the expected benefits of "managed competition." § 408.70(2), Fla. Stat. (1993).

To promote competition among as many providers as possible, the Legislature provided that: (1) AHCA must conduct an antitrust study to include "a methodology to prevent . . . anticompetitive activities such as . . . market allocation by . . . providers for the purpose of forcing providers out of business or to unfairly gain market share," [Section 79(3)(c)]; (2) CHPAs must develop a "plan to facilitate participation of providers in the district" in an AHP, [§ 408.702(6)(n)]; and (3) AHPs must demonstrate to AHCA for purposes of designation that it "[h]as the ability to assure enrollees adequate access to providers of health care, including geographic availability and adequate number and types." § 408.706(2)(f), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Each of those legislative requirements is intended to <u>increase</u> the number of providers available to CHPA members and thereby <u>promote competition</u>, which will lower the cost of health care services such as prescribed medicines. However, in sharp contrast to, and in derogation of, the stated goal of promoting competition in all health care markets, Section 408.706(10) -which was added to the Act in the final hours of the 1993 legislative session -- singles out the prescribed medicine market

s#9727.3

among all health care markets in Florida and <u>bars</u> competition in that market between independent pharmacies and (1) all pharmacies that do business in states other than the State of Florida and (2) all pharmacies having more than 12 stores within the State:

(10) Notwithstanding any provision of this Act to the contrary, if an [AHP] has entered into a contract with ... [a licensed pharmacy], an individual may use an independent pharmacy which is not a party to the contract, if such independent pharmacy selected agrees to provide the services at a rate equal to or less than the rate set forth in the contract negotiated by the [AHP] with parties to the contract and such independent pharmacy meets all the qualifications for participation in the [AHP] For the purposes of this subsection, the term "independent pharmacy" means a pharmacy facility which is not part of a group of affiliated pharmacy facilities which are under common ownership directly or indirectly in which the group has greater than 12 pharmacy facilities in the state or has directly or indirectly any interest in any facilities licensed under another state's laws for the purpose of providing prescribed medicine services

§ 408.706(10), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Thus, Section 408.706(10) allows an individual CHPA member to use an "independent pharmacy," even though the AHP providing the member's benefits has a contract for prescription medicines with another pharmacy, if the "independent pharmacy" offers the medicine at or below the contract price negotiated by the AHP for the medicine. However, not all pharmacies are given that right to compete for prescriptions from CHPA members under contract with another pharmacy for such services. All pharmacies "licensed under another state's laws" and pharmacies with "greater than 12 pharmacy facilities in the state" -- which are almost entirely interstate companies -- are expressly excluded from that market by the restrictive definition of an "independent \$777.3 pharmacy." Hence, they are barred from doing business with any such individual CHPA member -- even if that member wants to use them and they offer the same medicine at or below the contract price, thereby meeting the legislature's goal of increasing availability of services and reducing health care costs.

Petitioners fall outside the provision's restrictive definition of an "independent pharmacy." (R. I, pp. 31-96). All but Kash N' Karry operate pharmacy stores both in the State of Florida and outside of it. <u>Id</u>. All have or may have more than 12 stores in Florida. (R. I, pp. 31-91).

In fact, the vast majority of the pharmacy companies that do business both in the State of Florida and elsewhere operate more than 12 pharmacy stores in Florida. (R. I, pp. 92-96). There are 16 pharmacy companies doing business in the State of Florida that have more than 12 stores in the state. (R. I, p. 95). Of these companies, 13 have stores in states other than Florida, and <u>only 3</u> are doing business exclusively in the State of Florida. (R. I, pp. 92-96). These 13 interstate pharmacy companies operate 1,752 pharmacy stores in the state, or 87% of the total stores in Florida. (R. I, pp. 95-96).¹ More to the point -- as Judge

s#9727.3

¹/ These numbers are derived from the records of The National Association of Chain Drug Stores. (R. I, pp. 92-96). Those records slightly vary from petitioners' individual records. (R. I, pp. 31-91). Petitioners' records reflect additions or reductions in the number of Florida stores by some petitioners, with a net reduction in the total stores operated by the 13 interstate pharmacy companies. (<u>Id</u>.) However, the difference is inconsequential because both the number of petitioners' stores and the total number of Florida stores change by the same amount. As demonstrated by petitioners' records, the 13 interstate (continued...)

Miner correctly noted -- these same 13 interstate pharmacies represent 98.7% of the interstate pharmacy stores that, but for the numerical limitation remaining in the definition of "independent pharmacy," could compete with intrastate pharmacy stores for CHPA members' prescriptions in the market created by Section 408.706(10). Id.; <u>Albertson's</u>, 658 So. 2d at 142. Thus, all but a mere 1.3% of the interstate pharmacy stores are precluded from competing in that market as a result of the numerical limitation. (R.I, pp. 92-96).

In contrast, the 3 intrastate pharmacy companies with more than 12 Florida stores represent a mere 4% of the total stores in Florida and only about 3 out of 10 stores operated by pharmacies doing business solely in Florida. <u>Id</u>. At the same time, 42 intrastate pharmacy companies, representing close to 7 out of 10 stores operated by intrastate companies, may compete in the Section 408.706(10) market for CHPA members' prescriptions. <u>Id</u>.

The practical effect of the provision's numerical bar, then, is to heavily burden interstate pharmacy companies, with only the most negligible impact on intrastate pharmacies. The provision's skewed impact on interstate pharmacies is graphic:

 $\frac{1}{(\dots, \text{continued})}$

pharmacy companies operate 1,687 out of 1,948 pharmacy stores in the state, or again 87% of the total number of stores in Florida. (Id.)

SECTION 408.706(10) PRESCRIPTION DRUG MARKET

MAY PARTICIPATE

MAY NOT PARTICIPATE

INTRASTATE PHARMACY COMPANIES (number of stores)	42 (160 stores 8% of total Florida stores and 66.9% of intrastate pharmacy company stores)	3 (79 stores 4% of total Florida stores and 33.1% of intrastate pharmacy company stores)				
INTERSTATE PHARMACY COMPANIES (number of stores)	5 (23 stores 1% of total Florida stores and 1.3% of interstate pharmacy company stores)	13 (1752 stores 87% of total Florida stores and 98.7% of interstate pharmacy company stores)				

(R. I, pp. 92-96).

As a result of the statute's numerical limitation for an "independent pharmacy," petitioners cannot fill prescriptions for CHPA members under contract with another pharmacy, however competitive they are willing to be. Yet, if petitioners obtain a contract with an AHP to provide prescribed medicines to its constituent CHPA members, virtually all intrastate pharmacy companies have been granted the statutory right to serve these contractual customers of petitioners by filling their prescriptions. The <u>sole</u> basis for the bar to the petitioners' participation in this secondary market for CHPA members under contract with another provider of prescription medicines is their operation of pharmacies in other states or their operation of more than 12 stores in Florida. <u>Both</u> of these tests exclude the vast majority of interstate pharmacies from this statutorily created market.

\$#9727.3

As illustrated by the chart above, the pharmacies benefitted by this statute are almost entirely intrastate companies: 42 of the 47 pharmacy companies which have 12 or fewer stores in the state are Florida companies. (R. I, pp. 92-96). By virtue of the numerical bar imposed under Section 408.706(10), these intrastate companies have nearly exclusive access to the prescription market created by that provision.

The resulting burden on interstate commerce is established by the record evidence. Petitioners' exclusion from this market for CHPA members under contract with another pharmacy will adversely impact their prescription medicine sales in Florida. (R. I, pp. 31-91). Moreover, the adverse impact will not be limited to such sales, but will extend to the sales of other goods attendant to purchases of prescription medicines by petitioners' customers. <u>Id</u>.

This potential loss of business is exacerbated by the likely severance of many customer relationships as a result of the numerical limitation of Section 408.706(10). <u>Id</u>. Many loyal customers, with whom petitioners spent time and money cultivating a relationship, will be forced to stop using petitioners' stores, once their AHP contracts with another pharmacy. They will have to go to that pharmacy or to an "independent pharmacy" for their prescription drug needs. <u>Id</u>. This effect will be most prevalent at petitioners' stores (such as Eckerd) where pharmacy sales predominate. <u>Id</u>. However, even where pharmacy sales are primarily attendant to the sale of other products, like

S#9727.3

groceries, petitioners (such as Publix) still stand to lose pharmaceutical sales from such customers, as well as grocery sales made at the time prescription medicines are purchased. <u>Id</u>.

B. <u>Statement of Proceedings.</u>

Petitioners filed a declaratory judgment action seeking a determination of the constitutionality of Section 408.706(10) under the United States Constitution, and for permanent injunctive relief against the enforcement of that provision. (R. I, pp. 1-12). They asserted that this provision violated the Commerce Clause and the Equal Protection clause of the United States Constitution because it singles out the market for prescribed medicine services and then precludes petitioners from competing for certain customers in that market while, at the same time, granting that right to certain protected Florida-based pharmacies. Id.

Both parties moved for summary judgment. (R. I, pp. 97-104, 105-125). Petitioners argued that they are statutorily prohibited from providing prescribed medicines at competitive prices to certain Florida residents who may want to use their pharmacies, merely because they <u>also</u> sell such medicines to the residents of states other than Florida or because they sell such medicines to Florida residents through more than 12 stores. (R. I, pp. 97-104). They pointed out that the undisputed record evidence established that the restrictive definitions of an "independent pharmacy" resulted in "economic protectionism." <u>Id</u>.

s#9727.3

As petitioners' motion demonstrated, all of the pharmacies "licensed under another state's laws," as well as the vast majority of the pharmacy companies with "greater than 12 pharmacy facilities in the state" do business in states other than Florida. (R. I, pp. 92-96). By this statute, these interstate pharmacies are precluded from competing in the market created by Section 408.706(10). On the other hand, the vast majority of the pharmacies protected from competition by that provision do business solely in Florida. Id. The practical effect of the challenged provision is clear: those in-state pharmacies receive preferential access to the market for CHPA members under contract with another pharmacy. Id. Since such economic favoritism is precluded by the United States Constitution, petitioners sought to enjoin the State's enforcement of this provision.

The trial court granted petitioners' motion in part and denied it in part.^{2'} (R. II, pp. 202-220). The court found that the second part of Section 408.706(10) -- which prohibited pharmacies licensed under another state's laws from competing in the prescribed medicine market created by that provision -violated the Commerce Clause. (R. II, pp. 208-209, 219-220). There was "no valid purpose, unrelated to economic protectionism," for limiting the protections afforded by Section 408.706(10) to "pharmacy businesses who have no ownership

 $[\]frac{2}{2}$ Consistent with that ruling, AHCA's motion for summary judgment asserting that Section 408.706(10) did not violate the United States Constitution was granted in part and denied in part. (R. II, pp. 219-20).

interest of any type in an out-of-state pharmacy." (R. II, p. 209). "Such a measure amounts to economic protectionism" and is therefore, invalid under the Commerce Clause. <u>Id</u>.

However, with respect to the numerical bar in Section 408.706(10), the trial court held, without addressing the disproportionate impact of that limitation on interstate pharmacies, that it was not "clearly discriminatory." (R. II, p. 210). The court concluded that (1) a few intrastate pharmacies were also excluded from the Section 408.706(10) market and, hence, the provision burdened both intrastate and interstate commerce and (2) the Act "as a whole" did not discriminate against interstate pharmacies. Petitioners appealed this ruling.^{3/} (R. II, pp. 211-212, 215, n.2).

In a divided decision, the First District affirmed. <u>Albertson's</u>, 658 So. 2d at 134-144. The majority adopted the trial court's opinion as its own. In particular, the majority agreed that some burden on intrastate commerce justified any burden on interstate commerce, no matter how severe the burden on interstate commerce might be in contrast to the negligible burden on intrastate commerce. <u>Id</u>. at 138. The majority also agreed that the statutory framework should be examined "as a whole" to determine if Section 408.706(10) placed an impermissible burden on interstate commerce. <u>Id</u>. at 136. The majority sought in this regard to distinguish <u>Associated Industries of Missouri v</u>.

s#9727.3

^{3'} No cross-appeal was taken by the State from the judgment invalidating the bar to competition by pharmacies licensed under another state's laws.

Lohman, ____U.S. ____, 114 S. Ct. 1815 (1994), stating that it permitted the weighing of the benefit provided in one part of a statutory scheme against the burdens imposed on interstate commerce in another part of that statutory scheme, in order to determine if the challenged provision violates the Commerce Clause. Id. at 136, n. 2.

In dissent, Judge Miner pointed out that the Lohman Court had in fact specifically held that advantages provided interstate companies in part of a statute could <u>not</u> be used to legitimize discrimination against interstate commerce in other parts of the same statute. <u>Id</u>. at 143. Judge Miner made clear that the Commerce Clause requires an examination of the challenged statutory language to determine if it offends the principles of a national marketplace. As he put it, "<u>[i]t is the right to</u> <u>compete</u> that is determinative" <u>Id</u>. [emphasis in original]. He further noted that the "numerical cap imposed by this subsection eliminates not all but 98.7% of all interstate competition from the 'equal to/less than' prescription medicine market," which he concluded "is hardly the type of even-handed application required by" the Commerce Clause. <u>Id</u>. at 142.

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