IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 20 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By BMR
Chief Deputy Clerk

ALBERTSON'S INC., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

Case No. 86,247
(DCA No. 94-1592)

THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT
OF PROFESSIONAL
REGULATION, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHANIE A. DANIEL
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Attorney General's Office
The Capitol, Suite PL01
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(904) 488-1573
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners present no clear conflict between the decision of the District Court below and any opinion of this Court or the United States Supreme Court. In fact, no conflict exists. In the case below, Petitioners failed to demonstrate clear evidence that the challenged statute discriminated against interstate commerce. Petitioners also failed to demonstrate clear evidence that the challenged statute burdened interstate commerce.

The statute, when viewed in the context of the statute of which it is a part, does not discriminate against interstate commerce. Petitioners have presented no nonspeculative proof that this exemption will effect a shift of business from interstate to intrastate commerce. In fact, it appears that the market will have roughly the same composition after the passage of § 408.706(10) as it did prior to the passage of the subsection.

This case presents a facial challenge to the statute only. Petitioners do not allege that the statute has been applied to them to date. Petitioners have presented no nonspeculative proof that the challenged exemption will result in any burden on interstate commerce. Accordingly,

the action below was properly dismissed.

Assuming arguendo that Petitioners could somehow demonstrate discrimination or a burden on interstate commerce, a legitimate state interest exists to support the exemption: protection of small (as opposed to local) business. This interest has previously been recognized to be a valid interest in Commerce Clause Challenges. There are no adequate alternatives available to protect this interest. Further, any burden on interstate commerce is not as weighty as the State's interest in protecting small business and promoting adequate access to healthcare.

Accordingly, the action of the Court below should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE NUMERICAL LIMITATION DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE AGAINST INTERSTATE PHARMACIES IN VIOLATION OF THE COMMERCE CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

In this action, where Petitioners challenge the constitutionality of a statute, the statute is presumed to be valid, and will not be declared to be unconstitutional, unless Plaintiffs demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that the challenged statute conflicts with specified provisions of the Constitution. See Metropolitan Dade County v. Bridges, 402 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1981). Petitioners did not meet this burden below, with regard to their arguments that the numerical limitation contained in § 408.706(10) violated the United States Constitution.

A. THE PRACTICAL EFFECT OF THE NUMERICAL LIMITATION IS NOT ECONOMIC PROTECTIONISM, AND, THEREFORE, THE STATUTE IS NOT PER SE INVALID.

Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution provides: "[t]he Congress shall have the Power . . . [t]o regulate Commerce . . . among the several states." This provision of the United States Constitution has been interpreted to limit the power of the States to discriminate against interstate commerce. Wyoming v. Oklahoma, 502 U.S. ___, 117 L.Ed.2d 1, 22, 112 S.Ct. 789, 800 (1992). See also

Associated Industries of Missouri v. Lohman, ___ U.S. ___, 114 S.Ct. 1815(1994). The Commerce Clause has been construed to prohibit "economic protectionism - that is regulatory measures designed to benefit in-state economic interests by burdening out-of-state competitors." Wyoming, 112 S.Ct., at 800, 117 L.Ed.2d, at 22. Unless discrimination can be demonstrably justified by a valid factor unrelated to economic protectionism, then the statute will be stricken if it clearly discriminates against interstate commerce. Wyoming, 112 S.Ct., at 800; and Maine v. Taylor, 477 U.S. 131, 106 S.Ct. 2440, 91 L.Ed.2d 110 (1986).

The United States Supreme Court has adopted a two-tiered approach to analyzing state economic regulation under the Commerce Clause. When a state statute directly regulates or discriminates against interstate commerce, or when its effect is to favor in-state economic interests over out-of-state interests, the Court has generally struck down the statute without further inquiry. C & A Carbone, Inc. v. Town of Clarkstown, N.Y., ___ U.S. ___, 114 S.Ct. 1677 (1994); Philadelphia v. New Jersey, 437 U.S. 617, 623-624, 57 L.Ed.2d 475, 481-482, 98 S.Ct. 2531 (1978); Oregon Waste Systems v. Dept. Of Env. Quality, ___ U.S. ___, 114 S.Ct. 1345 (1994);

Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco v. McKesson, 524 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1988); and New Energy Company of Indiana v. Limbach, 486 U.S. 269, 100 L.Ed.2d 302, 108 S.Ct. 1803 (1988).

Under this "per se" rule of invalidity, a statute must be invalidated, if it discriminates facially or in effect, unless the State can "sho[w] that it advances a legitimate local purpose that cannot be adequately served by reasonable nondiscriminatory alternatives." Oregon Waste Systems v. Dept. Of Environmental Quality, 114 S.Ct., at 1351 (quoting New Energy Co. Of Indiana, 486 U.S., at 278, 108 S.Ct., at 1810). Further, the justifications for discriminatory restrictions on commerce must pass the strictest scrutiny. Oregon Waste Systems, supra.

Therefore, under this "per se" rule of invalidity, the burden is on the Petitioner or Plaintiff to clearly establish that a statute discriminates against interstate commerce in effect or on its face. Hughes v. Oklahoma, 441 U.S. 322, 336, 60 L.Ed.2d 250, 262, 99 S.Ct. 1727 (1979). If the Petitioner meets this burden, then the burden shifts to the State to establish, under strictest scrutiny, that there exists a legitimate local purpose for the statute, and that

the purpose cannot be adequately served by reasonable nondiscriminatory alternatives.⁶ Id.

The second part of the two-tiered approach involves analysis of statutes which have indirect effects on interstate commerce. When a statute has only indirect effects on interstate commerce and regulates evenhandedly, the United States Supreme Court has examined whether the State's interest is legitimate and whether the burden on interstate commerce clearly exceeds the local benefits. Brown-Forman Distillers Corp. v. New York State Liquor Authority, 476 U.S. 573, 578-579, 90 L.Ed.2d 552, 559-560, 106 S.Ct. 2080 (1986); Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc., 397 U.S. 137, 90 S.Ct. 844, 25 L.Ed.2d 174 (1978); and Diamond Waste, Inc. V. Monroe County, Georgia, 939 F.2d 941 (11th Cir. 1991). See also Hughes v. Oklahoma, 441 U.S., at 336, 60 L.Ed.2d, at 262; McKesson, supra; and Maine v. Taylor, supra.

Whether addressing a statute which discriminates directly against interstate commerce or one which

⁶It follows that, if a Plaintiff cannot demonstrate that a statute is discriminatory in either effect or on its face, then the State is under no burden to prove either legitimate local purpose or that the purpose cannot be adequately served by reasonable nondiscriminatory alternatives.

incidentally burdens interstate commerce, the critical consideration is the overall effect of the statute on both local and interstate activity. Brown-Forman Distillers Corp., 476 U.S., at 579, 90 L.Ed.2d, at 560.

In the instant case, Petitioners failed to demonstrate any discrimination against interstate commerce, and failed to demonstrate that the challenged statute, when considered as part of the entire statutory scheme of which it was a part, burdened interstate commerce in any way. Accordingly, the action was properly dismissed below.

The term "discrimination" as used in the context of Commerce Clause challenges means differential treatment of in-state and out-of-state economic interests that benefits the former and burdens the latter. Oregon Waste Systems v. Dept. Of Env. Quality, 114 S.Ct., at 1350.

In the instant case, Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate differential or preferential treatment of in-state versus out-of-state interests.⁷ In part, this is so because Plaintiffs persisted in treating § 408.706(10) as if it was

⁷In the instant case, it is important to note that Plaintiffs do not challenge the contracting/bidding process, set forth in §§ 408.70 through 408.706, Florida Statutes (1993), as being violative of the Commerce Clause.

passed by the Legislature in a vacuum. Petitioners presently insist that it is inappropriate to consider other legislation passed contemporaneously with § 408.706(10), in determining the subsection's constitutionality. (IB-27-29) This argument is without support for reasons set forth below.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT § 408.706(10) DOES NOT VIOLATE THE COMMERCE CLAUSE, BECAUSE §§ 408.70 THROUGH 408.706, FLORIDA STATUTES, WHEN TAKEN AS A WHOLE, ARE NEITHER BURDENSOME NOR DISCRIMINATORY.

Plaintiff argues that it is inappropriate for this Court, or the Circuit Court and District Court of Appeal, to consider the statutory scheme at issue, as a whole, in determining whether or not a Commerce Clause violation exists. In this regard, Petitioners argue that Lohman, supra, is dispositive. Lohman does not provide support for Petitioners' arguments. In Lohman, the United States Supreme Court considered a Commerce Clause challenge to a use tax imposed by statute in Missouri. Pursuant to the statute, the state was authorized to impose a use tax of 1.5% on the privilege of storing, using, or consuming within the state any article of personal property purchased out of state. The State also authorized local jurisdictions to impose a local sales tax. Pursuant to this authority, over 1,000 localities

enacted sales taxes ranging from .5% to 3.5%. At least one county enacted no sales tax at all. Evidence was presented to the trial court, in Lohman, to establish that 93% of the dollar volume of sales in the State occurred in jurisdictions where the local sales tax exceeded the use tax. The trial court looked at the overall effect of the use tax scheme across the State, and concluded that the use tax scheme placed a lighter aggregate tax burden on interstate commerce than on intrastate commerce. Id., at 1820.

In Lohman, the State argued that, in determining whether the use tax was discriminatory, that the Court should look to the overall effect of the tax scheme across the state. In response to that argument, the Court made the statements described by Petitioners in their brief at page 27 of their Initial Brief. These statements cannot be construed as any prohibition against viewing a statutory scheme as a whole in determining whether or not a particular provision of the statute violates the Commerce Clause. In fact, in Lohman, the Court reviewed the use tax scheme at issue, and the local sales tax schemes at issue to determine whether discrimination existed. The Court reviewed separate statutes to determine how they operated together to affect interstate

commerce. In Lohman, the Supreme Court determined that it was appropriate to review the sales taxes adopted by each local jurisdiction, and compare them to the use tax enacted by the State. In any jurisdiction where the use tax was not "compensatory" in nature (i.e., where the use tax exceeded the sales tax), the tax was determined to discriminate against interstate commerce.

Similarly, several of the cases cited by Petitioners in their initial brief suggest that it is crucial to consider the overall effect of a statute on interstate commerce, as part of the inquiry into whether a Commerce Clause violation exists. Brown-Forman Distillers Corp., 476 U.S., 579, 90 L.Ed.2d, at 560; and McKesson, supra. In the instant case, to understand the impact which § 408.706(10) is designed to have on commerce, it is important to look to the remainder of the statute.

It is important to note that Petitioners did not demonstrate discrimination against interstate commerce in the action below. There is no evidence that any part of Chapter 408 operates to discriminate against interstate commerce. The charts attached at Exhibit A reflect that there has been no shift from intrastate commerce to interstate commerce, as

a result of the passage of § 408.70(10). Both before the passage of the statute and presently the percentage participation of interstate and intrastate pharmacy facilities are roughly the same. Those percentages overwhelmingly favor interstate participation in Florida's prescription market.

At page 19 of the Initial Brief, Petitioner suggests that the District Court concluded below that "discriminatory effect need not be absolute." Elsewhere in the brief, Petitioner states: "In particular, the majority agreed that some burden on intrastate commerce justified any burden on interstate commerce, no matter how severe the burden on interstate commerce might be in contrast to the negligible burden on interstate commerce." (IB-11) No such findings appear in the opinion of the First District Court, in Albertson's, Inc.. At page 139, in footnote 4 of the opinion, the Court noted that Plaintiffs had not clearly demonstrated that the exemption at issue actually operated to burden interstate commerce. Further, the Court noted that, when the exemption was viewed in the context of the statute as a whole, it did not appear that the numerical exemption had the effect of discriminating against interstate commerce.

Id., at 139, fn. 4.

In the case below, Petitioners did not demonstrate any burden to interstate commerce and did not demonstrate that the exemption, when viewed in the context of the statute as a whole, was discriminatory. Because of this failure of proof, Summary Judgment was entered in Defendants' favor on this issue.

In their Initial Brief, Petitioner's make the following statement:

For example, the Supreme Court stated in Exxon Corp. V. Governor of Maryland, 437 U.S. 117, 126, n. 16 (1978), that a statute has a discriminatory effect where "the effect of a state regulation is to cause local goods to constitute a larger share, and goods with an out-of-state source to constitute a smaller share of the total sales in the market."

(IB-20-21)

If the above-mentioned statement of law is applied to the instant case, Petitioners have demonstrated no discrimination against interstate commerce in the action below. As reflected in Respondents' Statement of the Case and Facts above, the percentage involvement in the pharmacy market of interstate companies as compared to intrastate companies remains relatively constant with the enactment of

§§ 408.70 through 408.706. Petitioner has not presented and cannot present at this time any evidence of an actual shift of commerce from interstate to intrastate. The statutes at issue had not been applied to Plaintiffs at the time of consideration of the Motions for Summary Judgment below. One can only speculate on the effect that these changes will have on interstate commerce. As noted by the United States Supreme Court: ". . . we have never deemed a hypothetical possibility of favoritism to constitute discrimination that transgresses constitutional commands." Lohman, 114 S.Ct., at 1824.

All of the pharmacy facilities which had access to Florida's pharmacy market prior to the passage of § 408.706(10), presently have access to the market. It is possible, and, in some locations probable, that some interstate providers will take over the business of other interstate providers in the CHPA market (because one provider obtains a contract and others do not). However, this is not a Commerce Clause violation. The Commerce Clause protects the interstate market, not particular interstate firms. Exxon Corp. v. Governor of Maryland, 437 U.S., at 129, 98 S.Ct., at 2215. Furthermore, interstate commerce is not

subjected to an impermissible burden simply because an otherwise valid regulation causes some businesses to shift from one interstate supplier to another. Id., 437 U.S., 128, 98 S.Ct., 2214.

Although Petitioners assert the existence of conflict between the McKesson case and the decision of the First District Court of Appeal (IB-22), such conflict cannot be shown in the instant matter. Petitioners suggest that decision of the Court below rested upon a conclusion that § 408.706(10) applies to a few interstate pharmacy providers, and does not apply to 3 intrastate providers. Id. As has already been explained above, the problem in the case below was not that Petitioner did not present evidence of "enough" of a burden on interstate commerce. Rather, the problem was that Petitioner did not present clear evidence of a burden on interstate commerce at all.

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, it is clear that § 408.706(10) does not directly violate the Commerce Clause. It is also clear that it is appropriate for this Court to consider the statutory scheme, of which §408.706(10) is a

part, in determining the impact that the provision has on interstate commerce.

C. SINCE PETITIONERS FAILED TO CLEARLY DEMONSTRATE THAT §408.706(10) DISCRIMINATES AGAINST INTERSTATE COMMERCE, THE BURDEN DID NOT SHIFT TO THE STATE TO JUSTIFY THE NUMERICAL LIMITATION CONTAINED IN § 408.706(10).

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